IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF SAN JOSE, et al.,

Defendants and Petitioners Below.

VS.

SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent.

NOV 24 2014

TED SMITH,

Frank A. McGuire Cle Deputy

Plaintiff, Real Party in Interest, and Petitioner Here.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District Case No. H039498 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 1-09-CV-150427

> JAMES McMANIS (40958) MATTHEW SCHECHTER (212003) CHRISTINE PEEK (234573) TYLER ATKINSON (257997) JENNIFER MURAKAMI (273603) McMANIS FAULKNER

A Professional Corporation 50 West San Fernando Street, 10th Floor

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether written communications about the public's business, sent or received by public officials and employees using personal equipment, such as personal electronic devices or personal email and texting accounts, are "public records" within the meaning of the California Public Records Act ("CPRA") and article I, section 3, subdivision (b)(1) of the California Constitution.

INTRODUCTION

The CPRA requires disclosure of "writings" relating to the conduct of the public's business that are "prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics." (Gov. Code § 6252, subd. (e) (defining the term "public records").) The parties to this action¹ dispute whether the CPRA's definition of "public records" covers writings relating to the public's business that are stored in personal accounts or on personal devices. Petitioner Ted Smith ("Smith") argued that such writings qualify as "public records." The trial court concluded that Smith's interpretation was correct, because as a "local agency," the City can

¹ Defendants and petitioners below included the City of San Jose, San Jose Redevelopment Agency, and San Jose City officials and former officials sued in their official capacities (collectively, "the City").

only execute its public duties through its individual officers and agents, and therefore such writings were "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by the City.

On writ review, the Sixth District Court of Appeal disagreed and adopted a narrow interpretation of the terms "local agency" and "public records." It held that the definition of "local agency" referred only to the legislative body as a whole, and therefore any writings relating to the public's business stored on personal electronic devices or in personal accounts need not be produced in response to a CPRA request. (Opinion, pp. 13-15, 24.) The Sixth District's interpretation fails to harmonize the plain language of all the CPRA's provisions. It also fails to give effect to the CPRA's purpose of furthering the right of access, as expressed in Government Code section 6250 and in the California Constitution at article I, section 3, subdivision (b)(1)-(2). It would lead to unreasonable results if upheld, including confusion over whether the Sixth District's "legislative body as a whole" formulation also applies to writings stored on City infrastructure.

The City's proposal to exclude otherwise qualifying writings based on the fact that they are stored in private accounts or on private devices would unreasonably undermine the public's right of access,

and create an easy way for public employees to conceal wrongdoing. The City fails to offer any persuasive countervailing policy reasons for restricting the right of access. Although Smith disagrees that his interpretation of the term "public records" implicates employees' privacy rights, public employees may avoid any such risk by choosing not to use their private accounts and devices to conduct public business. Smith respectfully requests that this Court adopt his interpretation of the term "public records" and hold that writings concerning the public's business that are stored in private accounts or on private devices of individual officials and employees must be produced.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. SMITH'S JUNE 1, 2009 CPRA REQUEST.

On June 1, 2009, Smith submitted a request to the City under the CPRA, seeking 32 categories of public records. (2 Petitioners' Appendix ("PA") 323-326; 4 PA 761-763.) Smith's request generally sought public records concerning Tom McEnery, John McEnery, San Pedro Square Properties, Urban Markets LLC, Barry Swenson, Sarah Brouillette, and issues related to downtown San Jose development. (2 PA 323-326; 4 PA 761-763.)

Four of the categories in Smith's request specifically sought "voicemails, emails or text messages sent or received on private electronic devices" of Mayor Chuck Reed, City Council members Pierluigi Oliverio and Sam Liccardo, and all other members of the City Council and their staff. (2 PA 323-326, ¶¶ 27-30; 4 PA 761-763.) These requests sought communications with parties working on the San Pedro Square Urban Market, a downtown property development by developer Urban Markets LLC, which was funded at least in part by a loan from the City. (2 PA 162-163; 2 PA 323-326.)

The City produced some documents in response to Smith's June 1, 2009 request on June 29, 2009 and July 2, 2009. (2 PA 320, ¶ 9; 2 PA 348-353; 4 PA 765-766.) The only documents from these productions that appeared to be from personal email accounts or personal electronic devices were emails between Lisa Herrick, then counsel for the City, and Ken Machado, counsel for Tom McEnery, regarding a public records request from Mr. Machado. (2 PA 341, ¶¶ 9, 14; 2 PA 378-388; 4 PA 765-766.) Ms. Herrick's emails originated from her non-City e-mail address, and at least some appeared to have been sent from her Blackberry phone. (2 PA 378-388; 4 PA 765-766.) Notwithstanding these emails, the City took the position that, "[s]ince

the City does not prepare, own, use or retain any record created by the Mayor, members of the City Council or their staff using any type of personal digital assistant, those records are not public records." (2 PA 355-357; see also 2 PA 359.)

II. THE FEBRUARY 24, 2009 TEXT MESSAGES TO COUNCIL MEMBER LICCARDO.

On August 16, 2009, the San Jose Mercury News published an article, "Many records still secret despite San Jose's promises of openness." (2 PA 362-364; 4 PA 763-764.) According to the article, a former labor leader named Phaedra Ellis-Lamkins text messaged City Council Member Sam Liccardo, by accident, as she was text messaging other City Council members during a City Council meeting about a proposal to give "millions of city redevelopment dollars to former Mayor Tom McEnery." (2 PA 364; 4 PA 763-764.) The first text message, dated February 24, 2009 and sent at 8:18 p.m., states, "Ok as long as inclusion on motion for ba protection." (2 PA 376; 4 PA 763-764.) The second text message, sent shortly thereafter at 8:31 p.m., states, "Accidentally texted you. Sorry[.]" (2 PA 377; 4 PA 763-764.) The article stated that both messages were provided to the Mercury News in response to a CPRA request by the newspaper. (2) PA 320, ¶ 11; 2 PA 364; 4 PA 763-765.)

Based on the San Jose Mercury News Article, the time stamps on the text messages, and the City Council's Meeting Minutes, the text messages appear to have been sent to Council Member Liccardo during or shortly after the February 24, 2009 City Council and Redevelopment Agency Board hearing on the "Approval of a Building Rehabilitation and Loan Agreement with Urban Markets, LLC, for improvements related to the San Pedro Square Urban Market." (2 PA 162-163, 374-377, 392.)

III. THE CITY'S PUBLIC RECORDS POLICIES.

On August 17, 2009, one day after the San Jose Mercury News article on the texts to Council Member Liccardo was published, then Mayor Chuck Reed issued a memorandum including recommendations for the "Sunshine Reform Task Force." (2 PA 121, 164-167; 4 PA 766-767.) With respect to "[n]ew [t]echnologies," Mayor Reed's memorandum stated:

Records of city business created with personal equipment, such as personal email, text messages, cell phones, social networking websites, and other new technologies should be covered by the California Public Records Act. The question of how to make them available to the public needs some research and discussion. That work should be referred to the Rules and Open Government Committee.

In addition, if lobbyists are attempting to influence Councilmembers prior to a Council vote through the use of emails, texts, or another type of technological communication, those contacts should be reported from the dais by the Councilmember.

(2 PA 167 (emphasis added); 4 PA 766-767.) At the August 18, 2009 City Council meeting, the City Council approved Mayor Reed's memorandum (2 PA 122, 168-183; 4 PA 767), and referred to the Rules and Open Government Committee "the question of how communications about City business made with personal email, text messages, cell phones, social networking websites and other new technologies should be dealt with as public records." (2 PA 179; 4 PA 767.)

On March 2, 2010, the City Council unanimously passed Resolution No. 75293, which revised City Council Policy 0-32, entitled "Disclosure and Sharing of Material Facts," and City Council Policy 0-33, entitled "Public Records Policy and Protocol." (2 PA 122-123, 184-203; 4 PA 767-768.)

The purpose of revised City Council Policy 0-32 was "to require every member of the City Council to publicly disclose (1) material facts; and (2) communications received during Council meetings that are relevant to a matter under consideration by the City Council which have been received from a source outside of the public

decision-making process." (2 PA 204.) City Council Policy 0-32 explicitly applied to text messages, emails, and telephone calls received during Council meetings. (2 PA 204.) Revised City Council Policy 0-33 stated the following with regard to CPRA requests:

Records available for inspection and copying include any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business that is prepared, owned, used, or retained by the City, regardless of the physical form and characteristics, and, in addition, any recorded and retained communications regarding official City business sent or received by the Mayor, Councilmembers or their staffs via personal devices not owned by the City or connected to a City computer network. The records do not have to be written but may be in another format that contains information such as computer tape or disc or video or audio recording.

(2 PA 207 (emphasis added).) The City claims these policies are no longer enforced, and were voluntary. (4 PA 869, lines 20-24.)

IV. SMITH'S COMPLAINT.

On August 21, 2009, Smith filed a Complaint under the CPRA, naming the City of San Jose, the San Jose Redevelopment Agency,² and San Jose City officials and former officials sued in their official capacities as defendants. (1 PA 1-17.) Smith sought an order that the City was required to produce the requested records, regardless of

² After Smith filed his lawsuit, the San Jose Redevelopment Agency was dissolved by operation of law and the City of San Jose was designated as its successor agency. (2 PA 311-313.)

whether they were created or received on City-owned computers and servers, or on a private device. (1 PA 7-8.)

V. THE CITY PRODUCES THE LICCARDO TEXTS AFTER SMITH FILES HIS CPRA ACTION.

On June 29, 2011, almost two years after Smith filed his action, the City agreed to produce the two text messages to Council Member Liccardo that already had been produced in response to the Mercury News' CPRA request in 2009. (2 PA 320-321, ¶ 14; 4 PA 766.) Both text messages would have been responsive to categories 27 and 29 of Smith's June 1, 2009 CPRA request. (1 PA 013; 2 PA 376-377, 392; 4 PA 756-766.) Other than the two text messages and the Herrick emails, Smith has not received any other documents that would be responsive to his June 1, 2009 request for communications sent or received on private devices. (2 PA 321, ¶ 15; 4 PA 756-766.)

VI. SMITH PREVAILS ON HIS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THE TRIAL COURT.

In July 2012, Smith and the City brought cross-motions for summary judgment. (1 PA 22-37, 89-112.) Although the City effectively conceded its obligation to produce records sent or received from private devices using **City** accounts, it continued to refuse to

produce responsive communications from private devices using private accounts such as Yahoo! or Gmail. (4 PA 765.)

On March 19, 2013, the trial court granted Smith's motion and denied the City's motion. (4 PA 846-855.) The trial court rejected the City's arguments that individual City officers are not included in the CPRA's definition of "public agency," and that the CPRA as a whole indicates legislative intent to exclude individual officials from that definition. (4 PA 846-855.) Because the City can only execute its public duties "by and through its officers and agents," the trial court reasoned, a communication relating to the conduct of the public's business drafted by a public officer or maintained on his or her private account is a "writing" that is "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by the local agency and, therefore, is a "public record" under the CPRA. (4 PA 854.)

///

///

///

³ "Public agency" is defined as "any state or local agency." (Gov. Code § 6252, subd. (d).) "Local agency" is defined in Government Code section 6252, subdivision (a) and is incorporated into the definition of "public record" in Government Code section 6252, subdivision (e).

VII. THE SIXTH DISTRICT ISSUES A PEREMPTORY WRIT VACATING THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDER, AND DIRECTING THE TRIAL COURT TO ENTER A NEW ORDER DENYING SMITH'S MOTION AND GRANTING THE CITY'S MOTION.

On April 10, 2013, the City filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate or Alternative Writ of Prohibition ("Writ Petition"), seeking review of the trial court's March 19, 2013 Order. The Sixth District Court of Appeal granted review, and on March 27, 2014, issued an opinion vacating the March 19, 2013 Order.

The Court of Appeal held that because the CPRA's definition of "local agency" referred to government bodies and not individual employees, "writings" that are "not accessible" to the City did not fall within the definition of "public records." (Opinion, pp. 14-15)

Critical to the holding was the Sixth District's conclusion that the plain language of Government Code section 6252, subdivision (a) "denominates **the legislative body as a whole**; it does not appear to incorporate individual officials or employees of those entities."

(Opinion, p. 14 (emphasis added).) The Court of Appeal ultimately concluded that "the language of the CPRA does not afford a construction that imposes on the City an affirmative duty to produce messages stored on personal electronic devices and accounts that are

inaccessible to the agency, or to search those devices and accounts of its employees and officials upon a CPRA request for messages relating to City business." (Opinion, p. 24.)

On April 11, 2014, Smith filed a Petition for Rehearing And/Or Modification of Opinion. Smith sought rehearing on two grounds: (1) the Opinion incorrectly stated there was no evidence in the record that the City of San Jose had "actual or constructive control" over its officials' privately stored communications; and (2) the Opinion erroneously awarded costs to the City in violation of the CPRA. On April 18, 2014, the Sixth District deleted the award of costs but otherwise denied the petition for rehearing.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law, subject to a de novo standard of review. (Redevelopment Agency of City of Long Beach v. County of Los Angeles (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 68, 74.)

Similarly, the application of a statute to the undisputed facts is a question of law, reviewed de novo. (County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (Anderson-Barker) (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 57, 62.)

///

II. WRITINGS CONTAINING INFORMATION RELATING TO THE PUBLIC'S BUSINESS, SENT OR RECEIVED USING PRIVATE ACCOUNTS OR DEVICES, ARE "PUBLIC RECORDS" WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CPRA.

"The primary objective of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent." (Lewis v. County of Sacramento (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 107, 119; accord Smith v. Superior Court (L'Oréal USA, Inc.) (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) Courts "first, look to the plain meaning of the statutory language, then to its legislative history and finally to the reasonableness of a proposed construction." (MacIsaac v. Waste Management Collection and Recycling, Inc. (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1082 (quoting Riverview Fire Protection Dist. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1120, 1126).)

Here, the analysis of legislative intent supports Smith's interpretation of the term "public records" in Government Code section 6252, subdivision (e) to include records sent or received from private accounts or devices. Any other interpretation is contrary to the purpose of the CPRA, and would allow public employees to conceal records concerning the public's business from inspection.

///

A. The Plain Language Of The CPRA Supports Smith's Interpretation Of The Term "Public Records."

In reviewing the plain language of the statute, courts give the words "a plain and commonsense meaning" unless the statute specifically defines the words to give them a special meaning."

(MacIsaac, supra, 134 Cal.App.4th at 1083 (citing Flannery v.

Prentice (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 577).) If the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for further judicial construction. (Ibid.) As discussed below in Section II.B, however, courts will not follow the plain meaning of the statute when it would frustrate the purposes of the legislation as a whole or lead to absurd results. (Ibid.)

Here, Government Code section 6252 subdivision (e) defines the term "public records" as follows:

'Public records' includes any **writing** containing information relating to the public's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or **local agency** regardless of physical form or characteristics.

(Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (e) (emphasis added).) The statute defines the term "local agency" as follows:

'Local agency' includes a county; city, whether general law or chartered; city and county; school district; municipal corporation; district; political subdivision; or entities that are legislative bodies of a local agency pursuant to subdivisions (c) and (d) of Section 54952.

(Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (a).)

The CPRA also separately defines "writing" as follows:

'Writing' means any handwriting, typewriting, printing, photostating, photographing, photocopying, transmitting by electronic mail or facsimile, and every other means of recording upon any tangible thing any form of communication or representation, including letters, words, pictures, sounds, or symbols, or combinations thereof, and any record thereby created, regardless of the manner in which the record has been stored.

(Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (g).)

1. Records "Prepared, Owned, Used, Or Retained"
By A Local Agency Include Records "Prepared,
Owned, Used, Or Retained" By Its Individual
Officials And Employees.

Nothing in the plain language of the definitions of "public records," "local agency," or "writing" suggests that the Legislature intended to limit the CPRA's coverage to records "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by a local agency's "legislative body as a whole." The words "legislative bodies" in section 6252, subdivision (a) are used only to clarify that the CPRA extends to additional subsidiary "legislative bodies" as defined by Government Code section 54952, which is part of the Ralph M. Brown Act. The plain language of section 6252, subdivision (a) does not indicate the term "legislative

bodies" was intended to limit the scope of the CPRA; to the contrary, it caused the CPRA to cover more "legislative bodies" than just a City Council, for example.

Nevertheless, the Sixth District erroneously concluded that "the plain language of the provision denominates **the legislative body as a whole**; it does not appear to incorporate individual officials or employees of those entities." (Opinion, p. 14 (emphasis added).) The Sixth District found support for its position in the definition of "state agency," which includes the term "officer." (Opinion, p. 14; *see also* Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (f).) The Sixth District reasoned that the Legislature could have included the term "officer" in the definition of "local agency," had it intended to include individual officials or employees of those entities. (Opinion, p. 14.) Even if this argument has superficial appeal, it does not withstand scrutiny.

As Smith argued in the courts below, local agencies can only act through their officials and employees. A "body politic," such as a city or county, "like a corporation, can act only through its officers and employees." (Suezaki v. Superior Court (Crawford) (1962) 58 Cal.2d 166, 174; see also Kight v. CashCall, Inc. (2011) 200 Cal. App.4th 1377, 1392.) The City can only "prepar[e], ow[n], us[e], or

retai[n]" records through the acts of its officials and employees, *i.e.*, natural persons working as its agents. (*See* Gov. Code § 6252, subd. (e); *Fiol v. Doellstedt* (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1318, 1328 (an agent is a person authorized by the principal "to exercise a degree of discretion in effecting the purpose of the principal").) Where an agent is acting on behalf of its principal, "there is in law only a single actor." (*Id.* at 1326.)

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