IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CITY OF SAN JOSÉ, et al.,

Defendants and Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent.

TED SMITH,

Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 30 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District Case No. H039498 Superior Court, Santa Clara County, Case No. 1-09-CV-150427

RICHARD DOYLE, City Attorney (88625)
NORA FRIMANN, Assistant City Attorney (93249)
MARGO LASKOWSKA, Senior Deputy City Attorney (187252)
Office of the City Attorney
200 East Santa Clara Street, 16th Floor
San José, California 95113-1905

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Rules of Statutory Interpretation

In Sierra Club v. Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, a CPRA case, this Court stated that in determining legislative intent, courts must first look to the statute's words:

When we interpret a statute, "[o]ur fundamental task... is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose. We first examine the statutory language, giving it

¹ In 2014, Council policies 0-32 and 0-33 were rescinded and incorporated into the San Jose Open Government Resolution. (http://www.sanjoseca.gov/documentcenter/view/35087> [as of March 26, 2015].)

a plain and commonsense meaning. We do not examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment. If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend. If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy." [Citation.] "Furthermore, we consider portions of a statute in the context of the entire statute and the statutory scheme of which it is a part, giving significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." [Citation.]

(*Id.* at 165-66, emphasis added.) Similarly, in *People v. Snook* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1210, this Court explained that in statutory interpretation the key to the Legislature's intent is in the statute's language because the language was vetted in the legislative process: "In determining the Legislature's intent, a court looks first to the words of the statute. [Citation.] '[I]t is the language of the statute itself that has successfully braved the legislative gauntlet.' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at 1215.)

In California Federal Savings and Loan Association v. City of Los Angeles (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, this Court explained that "[w]e may not, under the guise of construction, rewrite the law or give the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used." (Id. at 349.)

Prefatory material is "a passage that precedes the text's operative terms." (Scalia & Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts (Thomson/West 2012) p. 217 (hereafter Scalia).) The prologue can be "considered in determining which of various permissible meanings the dispositive text bears." (*Id.* at 218.)

There are, however, two serious limitations on the use of prologues. First, an expression of specific purpose in the

prologue will not limit a more general disposition that the operative text contains. There is no inconsistency between the two, since legislative remedies often go beyond the specific ill that prompted the statute. Second, an expansive purpose in the preamble cannot add to the specific dispositions of the operative text. After all, no legislation or private disposition pursues its stated purposes at *all* costs.

(*Id.* at 219, italics in the original, bold added.) (*See also* 2A Singer & Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction (7th ed. 2008) § 47:4 (hereafter Sutherland); *Price v. Forrest* (1899) 173 U.S. 410, 427 [19 S.Ct. 434].)

"The judge should not presume that every statute answers every question, the answers to be discovered through interpretation." (Scalia, *supra*, p. 93, fn. omitted.) For example, Code of Civil Procedure section 1858 provides that what the statute omits should not be inserted:

In the construction of a statute or instrument, the office of the Judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted or to omit what has been inserted; and where there are several provisions or particulars, such a construction is, if possible, to be adopted as will give effect to all.

(Code of Civ. Proc., § 1858.) And Civil Code section 3530 provides the following maxim: "That which does not appear to exist is to be regarded as if it did not exist." (Civ. Code, § 3530.)

"Where [a legislature] includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that [the legislature] acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion." (*Russello v. United States* (1983) 464 U.S. 16, 23 [104 S. Ct. 296].)

Finally, "the Legislature, and not the courts, is vested with the responsibility to declare the public policy of the state. [Citations.]" (*Green v. Ralee Engineering Co.* (1988) 19 Cal.4th 66, 71-72.) Courts "do not sit

as super-legislatures to determine the wisdom, desirability or propriety of statutes enacted by the Legislature." (*Estate of Horman* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 62, 77.)

- B. The Text of the "Public Records" Definition Shows That the Writings at Issue Are Not Public Records.
 - "Public Business" and "Public Records" Are Separate Concepts Under the Act.

Under the Act, to constitute a "public record," a document must be
1) related to public business, and 2) "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by
a "public agency":

"Public records" includes any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics. "Public records" in the custody of, or maintained by, the Governor's office means any writing prepared on or after January 6, 1975.

(Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (e), emphasis added.)

Smith conflates the terms "public business" and "public records." A "writing . . . relating to the conduct of the public's business" in the "public records" definition is not the same as a "public record." The CPRA treats those two terms as different concepts because a "writing relating to the conduct of public's business" is only one part of the "public record" definition. (Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (e).) Smith's argument improperly disregards that distinction. (See OBM 2-3.) If an element of the definition is absent, the writing is not "a public record."

2. Not All Public Officers Are "Public Agencies."

The Act provides that "'[p]ublic agency means any state or local agency." (Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (d).) The definition of a "local agency" does not refer to "individual council members," "employees," or

"public officials" but covers boards, commissions, agencies, and legislative bodies of local agencies:

"Local agency" includes a county; city, whether general law or chartered; city and county; school district; municipal corporation; district; political subdivision; or any board, commission or agency thereof; other local public agency; or entities that are legislative bodies of a local agency pursuant to subdivisions (c) and (d) of Section 54952.

(Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (a), emphasis added.) On the other hand, "'[s]tate agency' means every state office, officer, department, division, bureau, board, and commission or other state body or agency, except those agencies provided for in Article IV (except Section 20 thereof) or Article VI of the California Constitution." (Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (f).) The definition of a "state agency," which includes individual state officers, must be distinguished from that of a "local agency," which does not mention individual officers.

Under the "local agency" definition, the Council acting as a whole—as a legislative body—is deemed a public agency, but not individual Councilmembers when not acting as a body. Smith's contention that "a body politic" must include individuals because it can only act through individuals must fail in this context. (*See* OBM 16.) The state and cities are equally "bodies politic" and yet the Legislature chose to include officers only in the definition of "state agency." Therefore, individual Councilmembers are not "public agencies."

Throughout his brief, Smith insists that the Sixth Appellate District's opinion potentially narrows the "public records" definition to those documents that are created by the City Council only, and carves out all documents created by other City employees in City accounts that have until then been subject to the CPRA. (See OBM 2, 21, 26, 28 & n.4, 30 & 48-

49.) Smith attempts to create a non-issue. The court explained that its holding affects only "writings of individual city officials and employees" in their private accounts:

Because it is the *agency*—here, the City—that must prepare, own, use, or retain the writing in order for it to be a public record, those writings that are not accessible by the City cannot be said to fall within the statutory definition. The City cannot, for example, "use" or "retain" a text message sent from a council member's smartphone that is not linked to a City server or City account. Thus, relying on the plain meaning of the language used in section 6252, subdivisions (a) and (e), we believe that the CPRA does not extend its disclosure mandate to writings of individual **city officials and employees** sent or received on their **private** devices and accounts.

(City of San Jose, supra, 225 Cal.App.4th at p. 89, italics in the original, bold added.) Thus, the opinion does not conflict with other law.

3. The Sixth District's Interpretation Was Reasonable.

The interpretation of "local agency" and "public records" in this case by the Sixth District Court of Appeal was not "narrow" but typical under the CPRA, as confirmed by *Regents of the University of California v. Superior Court (Reuters America LLC)* (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 383 (hereafter *Regents*), that considered "whether a public agency can be required . . . to seek records it does not prepare, own, use or retain in the conduct of its business." (*Id.* at 387; see OBM 2 & 29.)

In that case, the Regents had a contract with two private equity investment firms, and would receive financial information in confidence from them to monitor investments. (*Regents, supra*, 222 Cal.App.4th at pp. 388-89.) In 2003, the firms stopped providing the information. (*See id.* at 389.) In 2011, Reuters America LLC requested financial information from the Regents on all investments with those firms. (*See id.* at 393.) The

Regents did not have fund information for those firms after 2003. (*See ibid.*) Reuters sued. (*Id.* at 393.) The question was "whether the individual fund information which the trial court has ordered the Regents to make objectively reasonable efforts to obtain from [the investment firms] constitutes 'public records' within the meaning of the Act." (*Id.* at 396.)

The court agreed with the Regents that constructive possession is irrelevant to whether the sought information falls within the definition of public records. (*See Regents, supra*, 222 Cal.App.4th at p. 399.) The court explained that there are only two requirements for a document to qualify as a "public record:" "[U]nless the writing is related 'to the conduct of the public's business' *and* is 'prepared, owned, used, or retained by' a public entity, it is not a public record under the CPRA, and its disclosure would not be governed by the Act." (*Id.* at 399, italics in original.) The *Regents* court found that "[n]o words in this statute suggest that the public entity has an obligation to obtain documents even though it has not prepared, owned, used, or retained them." (*Ibid.*)

In the present case, Smith argues that the Act's literal language of the "public records" definition leads to absurd results, and claims that it is ambiguous. (See OBM 22-24 & 29.) But the Regents court determined that the term "public records" is "unambiguous." (Regents, supra, 222 Cal.App.4th at p. 399 n.13.) The Regents court stated that public policy and other provisions of the Act are consistent with, and support, the plain meaning of the statute: Acknowledging the purpose of the Act to ensure public access to information about the people's business, the court stated that "the Act is clear that the Legislature intended to restrict the public's access to some material. A literal interpretation of section 6252, subdivision (e), is consistent with the purpose of providing the public with access to public records while recognizing that the access has some limits."

(*Id.* at 400.) Thus, in the present case, the Sixth Appellate District's analysis of the "public records" definition was reasonable.

Board of Pilot Commissioners v. Superior Court (2013) 218

Cal.App.4th 577, is another decision that focused on the "public records" definition. There, the Pacific Merchant Shipping Association asked the Board for pilot logs, prepared by a private organization, the San Francisco Bar Pilots, that were not used or maintained by the Board but that related to a public interest in safe navigation. (See id. at 596.) The president of the private organization was also a public official for some purposes because by virtue of his presidency he served as Port Agent of the Board. (Id. at 581.)

The Board of Pilot Commissioners court considered the well-accepted rules that "[t]he mere possession by a public [officer] of a document does not make the document a public record," and that "[a]ny record required by law to be kept by an officer, or which he keeps as necessary or convenient to the discharge of his official duty, is a public record." (Id. at 593, citations omitted.) The court decided that the pilot logs were not public records, and found it significant that the Bar Pilots' president never used the logs in the performance of his duties as Port Agent: "If the data itself is not a public record, the fact that the Board could theoretically request it from Bar Pilots does not make it so." (Id. at 600.) The same principle applies here. The two-prong approach to analyze the "public records" definition is sound.

4. The Act's Preamble Cannot Extend the Meaning of Unambiguous Provisions.

While Smith argues that the Act should cover electronic communications of individual local officials in their private accounts, he does not point to any express language supporting that claim. (*See, e.g.* OBM 14-20 & 23-24.) It is well-established that a preamble, such as

section 6250, cannot extend the meaning of an unambiguous statute, and cannot be used to create doubt or uncertainty which does not otherwise exist. (See Scalia, supra, at p. 219; Sutherland, supra, at § 47:4; see Price v. Forrest, supra, 173 U.S. 410, 427.) Because the "public records" definition is unambiguous, the Act's Legislative findings and declarations in section 6250 may not be used to create ambiguity or to add to the terms of the statute.

The Legislature's Nuanced Approach Does Not Create Absurd Results.

In Silver v. Brown, which Smith cites for the rule that literal language of a statute may be disregarded to avoid absurd results, there were "ambiguities and technical errors" in the literal provisions that needed correction. ((1966) 63 Cal.2d 841, 846; see OBM 22.) Here, the absurd results rule does not apply because the definition of "public records" is not ambiguous and contains no errors. The literal reading of section 6252 does not yield absurd results. As explained in Part C below, the Act reflects the Legislature's "more nuanced approach" than what Smith advocates. (See In re C.H. (2011) 53 Cal.4th 94, 107.) Judicial forbearance is, therefore, appropriate. The Supreme Court of the United States remarked in City of Ontario, California v. Quon that "[t]he Court must proceed with care when considering the whole concept of privacy expectations in communications made on electronic equipment " ((2010) 560 U.S. 762-63 [130 S.Ct. 2619].)

C. The Broad Structure of the Act Confirms that the Writings at Issue Are Not Covered by the "Public Records" Definition.

As mentioned above, communications on private electronic devices of the Mayor, City Councilmembers, and their staffs, to and from their

private accounts, are not maintained in the City's system and thus are not accessible to the City. ² Smith views this lack of access as irrelevant because he considers the Mayor, Councilmembers and their staffs as the City's agents. But the statutory scheme supports the City's interpretation.

1. Section 6270

In section 6270 the Act provides that state and local agencies are meant to be able to access public records directly:

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